A. INTRODUCTION

The guardian ad litem ( GAL) appointed to represent Richard I.,. 

I- Jatfield' s best interests in these chapter 71. 09 RCW proceedings was absent

throughout Hatfield' s entire trial. The absence violated the GAL, statute, 

case law, and Hatfield' s due process rights. This error requires reversal and

a new trial. 

In addition, substantive due process requires that involuntarily

committed individuals receive treatment that provides a realistic opportunity

to improve their mental health conditions. The record before this court

shows the State has denied Ilatfield appropriate medical care, suitable

medication, and any other treatment that would assist him in improving his

current psychotic condition. Hatfield' s confinement to the Special

Commitment Center ( SCC) under chapter 71. 09 RCW violates substantive

due process because the SCC is incapable of treating his psychosis. Hatfield

asks this court to reverse and remand for proceedings that address 1atfield' s

tight to adequate and individualized treatment. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OIi ERROR

1. The trial court violated a mandatory statute, case law, and

1- Iatficld' s due process rights by permitting trial to proceed in the absence of

Hatfield' s court- appointed GAL. 



7 The trial court violated Hatfield' s substantive due process

right by committing lIatfeld to the SCC under chapter 71. 09 RCW because

the SCC is incapable of providing adequate and individualized treatment that

would give Hatfield a realistic opportunity to improve his psychotic

condition, 

Issues Pertaining to Assianments of Frror

1. Did the trial court violate RCW 4. 08. 060, the mandatory

GAL statute, and Hatfield' s due process rights by proceeding with trial

during the entirety of which Hatfield' s court- appoin ted GAL was absent? 

2. the State has failed to provide I- Iatfeld with appropriate

medical treatment to rule out a physical etiology of his psychotic

condition. The State has .[ailed to provide medication to Hatfield in a way

that could improve his psychotic condition. The State instead has locked

Hatfield in a cell in the SCC' s Intensive Management Unit, stripped him

naked, and forcibly medicated him with a drug that has proven ineffective. 

The State has tailed to provide Hatfield with any treatment that would give

him an opportunity to improve his current mental health condition. Under

these circumstances. does Hatfield' s commitment to the SCC violate

substantive due process because it does not provide constitutionally

adequate treatment? 



C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petition and determination of probable cause

On February 21, 2012. the State filed a petition to commit Hatfield

under chapter 7I. 09 ItCW. CP 1 - 2. The petition alleged I Iatficld was

convicted of first- degree child molestation, a sexually violent offense, in

April 1998 in Clark County. CP 1. The petition also recounted Hatfield' s

1982 California conviction for attempted lewd and Iascivious conduct with a

minor under the age of 14. CP 1. The trial court found probable cause to

believe I latlield was a sexually violent predator. CP 4. 

2. Incompetency determination

In October 2013, the trial court held a competency hearing, given

that Hatfield was acutely psychotic and no longer identified himself as a

1latfeld. CP I71. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the trial

court ruled it was " reasonably convinced that Mr. Hatfield is not competent

to understand the significance of legal proceedings and the effect of such

proceedings on his best interests." CP 176. The trial court therefore

appointed a GAL, Peter MacDonald, pursuant to RCW 4. 08. 060. CP 176- 

77. 

Despite the trial court' s ruling of incompetency, the State sought to

depose Hatfield over IIatfield' s objection. Scc CP 13 - 18. Brian Abbott, 

Ph. D., submitted a declaration stating= that Hatfield was " incompetent to



testify as a witness because he is of unsound mind due to psychosis." CP 19. 

Specifically. Abbott opined that 1lat0eld could not " tell the difference

between the truth and a lie," and detailed several delusions from which

Hatfield suffered. CP 19- 21. The trial court never ruled on the State' s

motion to depose I- Iatfield and the parties proceeded to trial. 

3. Jury demand

On the first clay of trial, counsel .for Hatfield indicated she wished to

waive jury trial and proceed with a bench trial. RP 18. However, the trial

court pointed out that neither party had filed a jury demand. RP 20 -21. 

Defense counsel conceded it had not filed a jury demand. RP 21 - 22. 

The State wanted to try its case to a jury, noting We are all laboring

under the assumption this would be a jut), trial. Up until about 10 minutes

ago the Court was prepared for a jury trial. Both parties were prepared for a

jury trial, and nobody thought that nobody had demanded a jury trial." RP

23 -24. The State then formally demanded a jury. RP 24. Defense counsel

deferred to the court. RP 24. 

The trial court. citing CR 38( d) and In re Det. of Coppin. 157 Wn. 

App. 537, 238 P. 3d 1192 ( 2010). stated it was not an abuse of discretion to

deny an untimely request for a jury trial. RP 24 -25. Over the State' s

objection, the trial court ruled the States demand should not be accepted

and the case will be tried to the Court." RP 26 -27. 29. 



4. GAL absence

On the first day of trial, Hatfield' s GAL, Peter MacDonald, appeared

to inform the trial court that Hatfield' s psychotic condition rendered Hatfield

unable to be present at trial. RP 2, 12- 14. The trial court accepted this

wavier, but then inquired whether MacDonald would be attending trial. RP

14. MacDonald indicated, ` I think it' s probably a good idea for 1110 to stay." 

RP 15. He then clarified, "just until the jury has convened." RP 15. 

The trial court stated it needed to be able to tell the jury who

MacDonald was. RP 15. MacDonald expressed concern that " me being

introduced as a guardian ad litem for anyone on the jury who knows what

that is, creates an inference that wouldn' t be created if your statement was

just left alone and 1 wasn' t here." RP 15- 16. 

When defense counsel waived jury trial, MacDonald stated he was

not comfortable weighing in on the jury waiver: " I respectfully decline to

give an opinion on that other than I don' t really have the authority." RP 18. 

As noted, the trial court later ruled the ease would be tried to the bench. RP

29. In doing so, the trial court eliminated the GAL' s concern that the jury

could draw a negative inference from his presence. However, despite being

appointed to represent Hatfield' s best interests in these proceedings_ the

GAL did not attend any other portion of the trial on 1. latfeld' s behalf and he



was not heard from again. See RP 102. 316. 527. 649 ( noting appearances

of Hatfield' s and the State' s attorneys only). 

5. Trial testimony

The State presented the testimony of one witness at trial, Henry

Richards, Ph. l]. Richards diagnosed Hatfield with 11 different

psychological disorders. 

Richards' s principal diagnosis was pedophilia or pcdophilic disorder. 

RP 145- 46. 1 lc explained the pedophilic disorder was " non -- exclusive type, 

sexually attracted to males." RP 145. Richards supported his diagnosis by

describing in detail numerous contacts between Hatfield and male children

under the age of 13 between 1979 and 1998. RP 173 -206. 

Richards also diagnosed psychotic disorder, cyclothymic disorder, 

bipolar disorder 11, avoidant personality disorder, other specified personality

disorder with mixed antisocial and passive - aggressive negativistic traits, 

alcohol dependence in a controlled environment, rapid eye movement sleep

behavior disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and generalized

anxiety disorder. RP 157. 66. As he enumerated each disorder, he explained

his reasoning for diagnosing each. RP 157 -66. 

Richards also testified Hatfield suffered from Ganser' s syndrome, 

which, according to Richards meant `- the individual shows signs of either

dementia, physical illness, or psychosis or all three. and it doesn' t fit known



or typical fortes of Mose disorders, and its suspected to be psychological in

origin, and not biological." RP 150. Richards acknowledged that Ganser' s

syndrome did not appear as a valid diagnosis in either the DSV -IV or DSM- 

V, but did appear in the text of DSM -IV. RI' 150. Richards described

Ganser' s as part of the dissociative disorder category. "( RP 152- 53. 

Richards opined that Hatfield' s " psychotic break [ wags pretty much

irrelevant to the pedophilic disorder." RP 220. Richards likened it to " a

computer software that has a crash. So the brain is set on pedophilic

disorder. There' s a crash. Nothing is working. And then you reboot the

system, reload the software; you' ve got the same activities, interests, 

orientation [ asi previously." RP 221. 

In addition to the pedophilic disorder-, Richards testified Hatfield' s

other conditions contributed to a mental abnormality. RP 223. He went

through each of his diagnoses and slated why they supported his conclusion

that Hatfield suffers from a mental abnormality that `=causejs] him serious

difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior." RP 225- 33. 

However, on cross examination, Richards conceded he could not point to

The issue of' Ganser' s syndrome was hotly contested by the parties. Defense

Counsel sought to exclude it from evidence as unreliable and unhelpfiil under ER
702 and ER 703. CP 67 -70; RP 74 -76. Defense experts testified the syndrome

had not been scientifically validated or empirically researched and was not
accepted in the scientific community. RP 562 -64. Ultimately, the trial court
excluded the Gasser' s syndrome evidence. CP I58: RP 818 - I9. 



any research supporting his conclusion that Hatfield' s psychological

disorders affected his emotional or volitional control. RP 421 - 29. 

To determine Hatfield' s risk of reoffending, Richards relied on a

flare Psyc.h pathy Checklist assessment, the Static -99R. the Static- 2002R, 

and other dynamic and clinical risk f=actors. RP 234- 35. Based on the Static - 

99R and Static - 20028, the actuarial instruments Richards employed, 

Richards concluded that Hatfield' s five -year risk of reoflending was 35. 2

percent and his ten -year risk was 46 percent. RP 257. Richards believed

these percentages under 50 still meant Ilatfield was likely to rcoffend

because actuarials " underestimate the actual rate of rcoffense" and that

there' s an assumption that [ sex offerises] are significantly under - reported." 

RP 261. 

Richards also relied on other instruments, including the Stable 2007, 

to reach his conclusion that Ilatfield was more likely to offend if not

confined. RP 275 -81, He testified Hatfield' s delusional statements

regarding molestation and incest showed continued sexual preoccupations

even after the psychotic break. RP 283, 288. He also stated that IIatfield

had exposed himself to SCC staff as a form of sexual coping or sexual

provocation. RP 287 -88. 



Based on his risk assessment, Richards opined that Hatfield' s mental

abnormality made him " more likely than not to engage in predatory acts of

sexual violence if not confined in a secure litcility." RI' 294. 

Fabian Saleh, M.D., the only physician witness, testified on behalf of

Hatfield. Ile described I- Iatfield' s condition as ` acutely psychotic," and

diagnosed Hatfield with late -onset schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. 

RP 539, 542. He also indicated I- latfield' s clinical presentation was

consistent with major depressive disorder- and bipolar disorder. RP 541. 

Saleh also took issue with Richards' s diagnosis of pedophilia. Saleh

explained that for a pedophilia diagnosis. " the victim[ s] have to be

prepubescent. And based at least on my review of the data, it suggests that

the children in question, the victims, were not prepubescent, but pubescent." 

RP 624. 

Saleb' s testimony leveled heavy criticism against the State' s medical

treatment of Hatfield. Saleh discussed the need to determine whether there

was a medical or physical etiology that could explain Hatfield' s psychotic

condition, including conducting a full- fledged neurological examination, lab

woi-k, and brain imagina— none of which had been performed at the SCC. 

RP 544 -45. Saleh also expressed concern rcggarding Hatfield' s drug regimen, 

noting 1latficld has been treated, 1 think now for almost a year, with

Serocluel," an antipsychotic medication. RP 546. Saleh indicated Hatfield



had been " kept on almost the same dose, continued to suffer from the

symptoms, and there was no intervention, really, to help him improve in

terms of his clinical presentation ...." RP 549. This deeply concerned

Saleh given that Scroquel is potentially lethal. RP 550. 

In addition, Sale] countered Richards' s testimony that Hatfield was

acting out sexually by exposing himself to staff. Based on a video that was

played for the court showing SCC staff forcibly medicating Hatfield, who

was naked, Saleh explained that SCC staff place Hatfield in an Intensive

Management Unit cell, consistently strip hin7 naked, and forcibly medicate

him. RP 577 -78. Contrary to Richards' s testimony, Saleh stated there was

n] othing whatsoever in the video that suggested Hatfield was flashing the

SCC staff or was motivated by " anything sexual." RP 578. Salch was very

disturbed by the State' s mistreatment of 1latfield that provided no

opportunity for Hatfield' s psychotic condition to improve. 

As for Hatfield' s risk of sexual violence, Saleh stated; given

Hatfield' s psychosis. ' there' s no evidence . . . that he is sexually

preoccupied. " There is no evidence in the records that he has morning

erections. There is no evidence in the records that he is masturbating." RP

553. In contrast, before the psychotic break, " there was evidence that

Hatfield was still sexually active." RP 553 -54. Saleh also explained

Hatfield' s schizophrenia has changed his clinical presentation: ` his



presentation has changed so he may still carry a diagnosis ... because of

historical data of pedophilia or pedophilic disorder-, but he does not present

with symptoms or signs of that disorder." RP 560. Ile concluded 1Iaitield

is a complcte[ iy] different person today compared to 2011, 2010, based on

the records .... I mean, we talk about two different people." RP 560. Saich

also stated that I Tattleld' s psychosis could not predispose Hatfield to resume

previous behaviors such as grooming or sexually assaulting a child: 

I doubt that it would be possible. I mean, if he is in the state
of mind he is in right now as psychotic as he is and

delusional as he is, 1 don' t think he would he able to execute
those ... planned, organized behaviors, as he did in the past, 
as far as 1 can sec. 

RP 631. In response to Richards' s use of actuarial instruments, Saleh opined

that given Hatfield' s current psychosis, " [ t] here is no such instrument that

would accurately reflect the risk for Mr. Hatfield to reoffend sexually if he

were to be released." RP 587. 

Brian Abbott. Ph. D. also testified for the defense. Abbott explained

Richards' s diagnosis of pcdophilic disorder was incorrect given Hatfield' s

interest in someone who has adult male physical development and so, 

again, that is not a paraphilia disorder. It' s a crime, clearly to have sex

relations with somebody that agc, but it' s not a paraphilic condition." RP

688. 



Like Saleh, Abbott explained Hatfield was - overtly psychotic." RP

675. Abbott testified. its like essentially he' s done a 180 in terms of his

mental status. Whatever conditions he had previously to the psychosis have

receded into the background. Essentially those diagnoses are no longer

valid. What' s taken over his current mental status is this psychotic

condition." RP 679. Abbott echoed Dr. Salch that in light of Hatfield' s

current condition, " there are not any sexual themes" or ` any themes of a

squally violent nature." RP 679. 

Abbott was also troubled by the SCC' s treatment of Hatfield as he

discussed the video showing SCC forcibly medicating Hatfield. In stark

contrast to Richards' s testimony, Abbott testified " there was no evidence of

Mr. Hatfield showing any kind of sexual preoccupation, talking about sexual

matters, exposing himself, masturbating. None of that was present in the

records." RP 683. Abbott also explained, " individuals whom] 1. have seen

who are psychotic and sexually preoccupied -- its a persistent preoccupation

and it' s verbalized regularly or demonstrated regularly." RIB 684. 

Abbott employed the Static -99R because in his opinion, lilt's the

most research instrument and[,] therefore, we know fairly clearly what its

strengths and limitations are in teams of assessing risk. It also has the largest

sample size behind its actuarial or experience tables." RI' 686. Abbott



acknowledged the instrument had a high error rate: " 30 percent of the time a

nonrecidivist is going to be falsely identified as a Iikely recidivist" RP 687. 

Abbott also criticized Richards' s risk assessment and selection of

Hatfield into a particular reference group, noting ::there' s no reliable or valid

way to distinguish these reference groups." RP 693. He described

Richards' s methodology as " a speculative model at best. It has no published

literature to support it. It has no known reliability or validity ...." RP 694. 

Abbott also indicated. " the group -risk estimate is not an accurate predictor of

the risk of an individual." RP 707. 

Abbott also took issue with Richards' s testimony - regarding the

underestimating or underreporting of sexual offenses. Abbott testified, 

we don' t know who is committing the undetected sexual
offenses, whether they' re first -time sex offenders or repeat
sex offenders .... And its the latter group that were interest
in . , .. We have no idea what that number is and[,] therefore. 

any opinion regarding , .. how that affects an actuarial risk

assessment is essentially speculation. 

RP 726. 

Abbott. also indicated Richards erred in using ` diagnoses to predict

behavior .... what we know is the DSM diagnoses were not designed to

determine how someone will function in the recent Iiiture or remote future." 

RP 724. Abbott said Richards' s opinion amounted to mere clinical

judgment, which was `-about the equivalent of flipping a coin," RP 725. 



6. Trial court' s ruling_ lindinas of tact. conclusions of law, and
order of commitment

1' he trial court ailed Hatfield had a mental abnormality. pedophilia. 

CP 155 -56; RP 816 -17. The court ruled this mental abnormality affected

the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes [ Ilatfield7 to the

commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a

menace to the health and safety of others." CP 155. 

The trial court stated the " crux of the issue" is whether- the mental

abnormality was current. RP 818. The trial court stated, " I' m convinced

beyond a reasonable doubt that it' s current in this sense. It may be that it' s

being masked in a way ... by his psychotic symptoms." RP 818: sce also

CP 156 ( " Respondent' s mental abnormality currently exists and is present in

Respondent, although the mental abnormality may be temporarily masked by

the symptoms of his psychotic disorder. "). 

Interestingly, the trial court rejected the statistical analyses provided

by Richards and Abbott in their entirety. The trial court stated, '` you can' t

simply take a statistical analysis and say, this group• s statistical risk of

something is this individual' s statistical risk of something.' RP 814. 

Instead, the trial concluded that courts have to look at the individual human

being and their characteristics over time to determine whether the statistical



predictions that you have make sense in any meaningful way." RP 814 -15; 

accord CP 157, 

The trial court determined Hatfield is likely to engage in predatory

acts of sexual violence unless he is confined in a secure facility." CP 158. 

The trial court found 1- Iatficld met the definition of sexually violent predator

and committed Hatfield to the SCC. CP 158 -59; RP 824. This timely appeal

follows. CP 160. 

D. ARGUMENT

1. '[ E - 1E. GAL' S ABSENCE THROUGHOUT ALMOST THE

ENTIRE TRIAL VIOLATED THE GAL STATUTE AND
HATFIELD' S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS

The trial court appointed a GAL for Hatfield because he was not

competent to understand the significance of the legal proceedings or their

effect on his best interests. CP 176 -77. But after the very beginning of the

first day. Hatfield' s GAL did not attend any portion of the trial. The GAL' s

absence violated the GAL statute as interpreted by the Washington Supreme

Court and resulted in fundamental unfairness that violated Hatfield' s due

process rights. The absence of Hatfield' s GAL requires reversal. 

a. RCW 4.08. 060 mandates the presence of a court - 

appointed GAL at all times during trial

RCW 4.08. 060_ the statute under which GAL Peter MacDonald was

appointed, provides in pertinent part, " When an incapacitated person is a

party to an action in the superior courts he or she shall appear by guardian. or



if he or she has no guardian ... the court shall appoint one to act as guardian

ad ( item." ' Ile Washington Supreme Court has held that this statute is

mandatory: " A person under such legal disability can appear in court only by

a guardian ad !lien)." In re Dill. 60 Wn.2d 148, 150, 372 P. 2d 541 ( 1 962) 

emphasis added). Moreover, this " statutory mandate is not satisfied when

the person under legal disability is represented by an attorney." Id. ( citing

Flaherty v. Flaherty. 50 Wn.2d 393, 397, 312 P. 2d 205 ( 1957)). When a trial

court violates RCW 4.08. 060 by permitting proceedings in the absence of the

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