COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

RICHARD HATFIELD,

Petitioner.

AMENDED OPENING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 800 5TH Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID #91094

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

³ Title 11 deals with probate and trust law; Title 13 deals with juvenile courts and juvenile offenses, and Title 26 deals with domestic relations.

Wn.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). The courts do not, however, resort to statutory construction if a rule is unambiguous; rather, they determine its meaning from the language of the rule itself. *Leson v. State,* 72 Wn.App. 558, 562, 864 P.2d 384 (1993), *review denied,* 124 Wn.2d 1009, 879 P.2d 292 (1994). There is nothing in the GALR that suggests that they were intended to apply to guardians appointed outside certain of enumerated proceedings that do not include sex predator proceedings, and as such his argument fails.

Even if this Court were to resort to rules of statutory construction, Hatfield's argument fails. Numerous other statutory schemes provide for the appointment of a GAL: RCW 8.25.270 (eminent domain); RCW 12.04.150 (civil action against minor in district court); RCW 65.12.145 (registration of land titles); RCW 74.20.310 (action to determine parentage); RCW 90.03.150 (determination of water rights); and RCW 91.08.230 (eminent domain). None of these, however, are referenced in the Superior Court's GAL rules. Under the statutory canon of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the express inclusion in a statute (or, in this case, a rule) of the situations in which something applies implies that other situations are intentionally omitted. *In re Detention of Strand*, 167 Wn.2d 180, 191, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009). Thus it is clear that, the specific inclusion of certain proceedings in the GALR means that those proceedings not

included—including proceedings pursuant to RCW 71.09—are excluded, and do not come within their scope.

Even in matters within the explicit scope of the GALR, the requirement that the GAL be present at particular proceedings is not absolute: Pursuant to GALR 2(l), the guardian ad litem "shall appear at any hearing for which the duties of a guardian ad litem or any issues substantially within a guardian ad litem's duties and scope of appointment are to be addressed." (Emphasis added). Only in proceedings under RCW 11 is the guardian ad litem required to appear at "all hearings," and even then can be "excused by court order." GALR 2(l).

Hatfield argues that the language "substantially within a guardian ad litem's duties and scope of appointment" would extend to any and all hearings. App. Br. at 19-20. He provides no basis, however, to interpret the role of the GAL so broadly. First, Hatfield does not challenge the good faith or competence of his court-appointed GAL, and as such it is to be assumed that the GAL, mindful of his duty to ensure that the best interests of his ward were protected, knew whether any particular proceeding would be "substantially within" his duties and scope of appointment and as such would require his attendance.

In order to understand the limitations to the GAL's role at trial, it is helpful to refer to the Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPC"), which

outline the respective roles of the attorney and the client in legal proceedings, because it allows consideration what role Hatfield would have played in his trial had he not been appointed a GAL. Pursuant to RPC 1.2 ("Scope Of Representation And Allocation Of Authority Between Lawyer And Client"), the lawyer must abide by a client's decision concerning "the objectives of representation...and the means by which they are to be pursued," and whether to settle a matter. Beyond that, "a lawyer may take such action on behalf of the client as is impliedly authorized to carry out the representation."

By virtue of the fact that the parties, including the GAL, appeared for trial on April 7, 2014, it is clear that decisions regarding those matters had already been reached: Regarding the "objectives of representation," Hatfield, apparently long before the appointment of his GAL,⁵ had determined that his attorneys would assist him in opposing the State's Petition to have him involuntarily committed. Likewise, "the

⁴ RPC 1.2 provides, in pertinent part, "A lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation and, as required by Rule 1.4, shall consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued. A lawyer may take such action on behalf of the client as is impliedly authorized to carry out the representation. A lawyer shall abide by a client's decision whether to settle a matter. In a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify."

⁵ This case was initiated in February of 2012. CP at 1. The GAL was not, however, appointed until October of 2013 (CP at 176); trial ultimately began six months later, in April of 2014.

means by which [the objectives] are to be pursued" had been determined as well: that Hatfield would go to trial, and that he would not settle-that is, he would not stipulate to commitment. In addition, counsel for Hatfield had vigorously represented Hatfield prior to trial, both before and after the appointment of the GAL, conducting discovery, arranging for appointment of not one but two experts (Drs. Abbott and Selah) including arguing strenuously in support of the need for that second expert (CP at 238-284), deposing the State's expert (CP at 181-186), and filing various motions and trial memoranda related to the issues at trial. CP at 187, 190-210, 211-220, 221-237, 238-284. Critical trial decisions, such as what witnesses to call on Hatfield's behalf, had also already been made by the time of trial, presumably either while Hatfield was competent or in consultation with the GAL. CP at 188. At the point at which the GAL absented himself, what remained were only strategic decisions relating to the conduct of trial, decisions properly reserved to the attorneys. State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80 (2006), citing State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967) ("[T]he choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken or avoided, and the methodology to be employed must rest in the attorney's judgment."). As such, it was not unreasonable for the GAL, or for Hatfield's attorneys, to determine that there was nothing the GAL's physical presence at trial would accomplish. Had such an issue arisen that required consultation with the GAL, there is nothing in the record suggesting that counsel, with a strong presumption of competence, would not have contacted the GAL and, if necessary, brought him to court.

Hatfield does not point to a single example at trial where the input of the GAL might have been appropriate or changed the result of trial. His argument fails.

3. The GAL's Physical Absence From Trial Did Not Violate Hatfield's Right To Due Process

Hatfield next argues that his right to due process was violated by the GAL's physical absence from trial. Rather than identifying a single instance in which the physical presence of the GAL would or even might have made any difference in the outcome of the proceedings, he argues simply that the GAL's absence "undermined the overall fairness of the proceedings." App. Br. at 20.

Although it is not entirely clear, it appears that Hatfield is asserting that his right to procedural, as opposed to substantive, due process was violated. *See* App. Br. at 20-25. At its core, procedural due process is a right to be meaningfully heard. *In re Det. of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 370, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). Unlike some legal rights, due process "is not a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to time, place and circumstances." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 334, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47

L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). It is "flexible, and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *Id.*, citing *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 2600, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972). To determine whether a particular procedural protection is required in a given context, the court must consider "three distinct factors: First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail." *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 335. Application of these factors demonstrates that Hatfield's rights to procedural due process were not violated.

In *In re Detention of Morgan*, 180 Wn.2d 312, 330 P.3d 774 (2014), our supreme court applied the *Mathews* factors to the case of a schizophrenic sex offender who had been civilly committed after a jury trial. On appeal, Morgan argued that his civil commitment while incompetent violated both procedural and substantive due process. The court rejected both arguments. After conceding his "substantial" interest in liberty, the court concluded that the second *Mathews* factor "weighs heavily in favor of the State." *Id.*, 180 Wn.2d at 321. "Robust statutory

guaranties in chapter 71.09 RCW," the court wrote, "provide substantial protection against an erroneous deprivation of liberty." *Id.* The court then described these "robust statutory guaranties:"

Before commitment proceedings may even be initiated, the State must show probable cause. In re Young, 122 Wash.2d at 48, 857 P.2d 989 (citing RCW 71.09.040(1)). At the probable cause hearing, the respondent facing potential SVP proceedings has the right to counsel at public expense, to present evidence on his or her own behalf, to crossexamine adverse witnesses, and to view and copy all petitions and reports in the court file. RCW 71.09.040(3). For the SVP determination, the respondent has the right to a jury of 12 peers. RCW 71.09.050(3). At trial, the State carries the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, and in a jury trial, the verdict must be unanimous. RCW 71.09.060(1). Throughout, the respondent has the right to counsel, including appointed counsel, to meaningfully access this panoply of rights and procedural protections. RCW 71.09.050(1). Here, the trial court's appointment of a GAL for Morgan provided an additional safeguard.

Id. at 321-22. These protections, the court noted, continue after commitment: The State must "justify continued incarceration through an annual review." Id. at 322. The SVP has the right the right to "a show cause hearing, at which he or she has the right to counsel and to present responsive affidavits or declarations." Id. If the State fails to make its prima facie case upon annual review, or if the SVP makes a showing of

change, the SVP is entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which he or she is again entitled to a "panoply of procedural protections." *Id.*

Morgan, the court concluded, "had an opportunity to meaningfully contest facts in a criminal trial; he had a full SVP trial with many protections guaranteed to criminal defendants; and he was represented by counsel throughout the proceedings." 180 Wn. 2d. at 322. Although, as Hatfield points out, the court noted that Morgan's participation was "potentially diminished due to incompetency" and noted that a GAL had been "charged with representing his best interests," the court did not base its decision on this fact. Indeed, the court found "the existing protections nevertheless robust." Id. (Emphasis added). All of these "robust" procedural protections provided by the statutory framework were extended to Hatfield, and as such the risk of erroneous deprivation of his liberty was minimal.

Finally, the third *Mathews* factor, as the *Morgan* court noted, weighs in favor of the State as well. 180 Wn.2d at 322. The State's interest in protecting the public and in treating a dangerous sex offender is "compelling." *Id.*, citing *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 26, 42. Moreover, these interests could not be satisfied by pursuing civil commitment proceedings under the general civil commitment statute, RCW 71.05, instead of RCW 71.09, in that such placement would be "insufficiently secure," or require

"release of incompetent suspected SVPs who do not satisfy the requirement of chapter 71.05 RCW." *Id.* Pointing to cases from other states in which the courts had reached the same conclusion, the *Morgan* court concluded that it could "find no additional protections that would minimize the risk of error without significantly undermining compelling State interests." *Id.* at 323. Hatfield's right to due process was not violated when the State followed all of the procedures outlined by the *Morgan* court.

While the *Morgan* Court twice references the trial court's appointment of a GAL for Morgan as providing "an additional safeguard," the court does not suggest that, but for that appointment, Morgan's commitment would have been reversed. Nor does it address the question of whether that GAL is required to remain physically present throughout trial—indeed, the opinion does not indicate whether Morgan's GAL was physically present throughout trial at all. In rejecting Morgan's due process argument, the court cited, *inter alia*, a case in which the Massachusetts State Supreme Court had concluded that the requirements of due process may be satisfied by the appointment of counsel without need for a guardian ad litem at all. 180 Wn.2d at 323, citing *Commonwealth v. Nieves*, 446 Mass 583, 846 N.E. 379, 385-86 (2006). What is clear, in any case, is that the "[r]obust statutory guaranties in

chapter 71.09 RCW provide substantial protection against an erroneous deprivation of liberty." 180 Wn.2d at 321.

Hatfield also cites State v. Ransleben, 135 Wn.App.535, 144 P.3d 397 (2006) in support of his argument that a GAL must be physically present at trial. Ransleben, however, does not stand for this principle. Ransleben, in addition to suffering from pedophilia, had been diagnosed with a "mental disorder not otherwise specified due to head trauma and seizure disorder," as well as borderline intellectual functioning due to mild mental retardation. Id., 135 Wn.App. at 537. He argued that the right to be competent inheres in the right to effective assistance of counsel, and that, because he was not competent, he could not have received effective assistance of counsel. In rejecting his argument, the court relied primarily on the fact that Ransleben's interpretation was in conflict with RCW 71.09.060(2), which specifically sets forth procedures to be used when the respondent has previously been determined to be incompetent. Id. at 540. While the court also discussed Ransleben's appointment of a GAL, and noted that, in his case, "the GAL was also required to appear at all court hearings and conferences," (Id., 135 Wn.App. at 537) there is nothing in the opinion that indicates that this fact was dispositive. Nor can the opinion be read to hold that such presence is universally required, in that it appears that the court was simply taking note of the fact that, for whatever reason and by whatever mechanism, this was a requirement in Ransleben's case.

Hatfield cites In re the Dependency of P.H.V.S., -- Wn. App. --, 339 P.3d 225 (2014) for the proposition that this Court "undoubtedly would have concluded there was a due process violation had the GAL absented himself from the entire proceedings rather than for just a half-day." App. Br. at 23. This conclusion is unwarranted. First, P.H.V.S., like other cases cited by Hatfield, involves a situation in which the incompetent person personally appeared in court without his or her GAL. It does not address situations such as the one presented in Hatfield's case in which the incapacitated person has executed a valid waiver of his or her presence at trial. Secondly, the court's conclusion that the GAL's appearance was "mandatory" was based in part on the fact that a juvenile dependency is explicitly a type of case to which the GALR apply. 339 P.3d at 232. As previously discussed, this is not the case here. Finally, in rejecting the father's due process argument, the court turned, as the State urges this Court to do, to the actual record in the case, and concluded that "the record establishes little or no risk of error related to the absence of Smith's GAL...." Id. Likewise, in this case, Hatfield points to absolutely nothing in the record suggesting a risk of error because of the GAL's physical absence.

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